## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TENNILLE RAE WHITAKER,

Appellant,

Docket Number 77294

Dist Ct. Case. CR-FP-17-3893

FILED

FEB 2 7 2019,

FED 2 / 2013

DEPUTY CLERK

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

VS.

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF THE HONORABLE JUDGE NANCY PORTER

FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KARLA K. BUTKO, Esq. Attorney for Appellant P. O. BOX 1249 Verdi, Nevada 89439 (775) 786-7118 State Bar #: 3307 Byron Bergeron, Esq. TYLER INGRAM, ESQ. Elko County District Attorney Attorney for Respondent 540 Court Street, Second Floor Elko, Nevada 89801 (775) 738-3101 CHAD B. THOMPSON, ESQ.



19-09133

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over the direct appeal from the judgment of conviction which entered after a guilty plea. NRAP 4 (b). The judgment of conviction entered October 5, 2018. AA 219. The sentencing hearing occurred October 4, 2018. AA 116. The Memorandum of Plea Agreement/ Nolo Contendere Plea Agreement withheld the right to appeal and the court canvas during the nolo contendere plea confirmed the right to appeal stood after plea. AA 10, 52. The notice of appeal was filed October 17, 2018. AA 225.

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The convictions for Counts I - IV in this matter are for category C felonies. As such, this case is presumptively assigned to the intermediate Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b). In spite of that, the Nevada Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction over this appeal. There are several issues of first impression raised by this direct appeal.

NRAP 17 (11) provides that the Nevada Supreme Court shall retain jurisdiction over matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance.

NRS 201.540 has never been the subject of a published opinion in Nevada.

The law uses terminology not seen in other statutory schemes and which terms are not defined by the Legislature. Statutes similar to this one have been struck down

as unconstitutional in other states. As in those statutory schemes, consensual sex between the teacher and a person over the age of consent has been criminalized. This is the only profession to be subjected to criminal sanctions for consenting sexual acts. The legal issue is whether this type of statutory scheme violates the Equal Protection Clause because it criminalizes consensual sexual conduct for the school professional or employee but not other professions.

Prior to the sentencing proceeding, the Department of Parole & Probation delivered to the sentencing court a document which purported to be victim impact statements for sentencing purposes. The document was addressed to the District Attorney but instead seeks to advise the sentencing court of the conscience of the community. This "Petition" was served upon defense counsel the morning of the sentencing hearing. AA 77-88. The document contains signatures of over 70 people. Many signatures are illegible. Judge Porter admitted that she had reviewed the document but failed to recuse herself even after this display by the small community of Elko against the Defendant. The document was not timely served upon defense counsel so that he could file proper motions to recuse the court and seek a venue change. AA 174-75.

The sentencing hearing itself appeared to be quite contentious. Judge Porter noted the extremely large number of people present to watch the sentencing

hearing. At times Judge Porter advised the court audience that improper or inappropriate behavior would have them expelled from the courtroom.

The outcry by the community demonstrates the volatility in this arena of the law. A review of existing laws in other states leaves little or no published opinions. The opinions that have entered have been mixed, with several states striking down laws similarly written to Nevada's statute. Other states have upheld their laws. The simple issue of the age of consent to have sexual relations is divided in America. The age of consent ranges from ages 14-18.

The term "pupil" is not defined as it relates to NRS 201.540. The facts herein will demonstrate that Ms. Whitaker was an elementary school teacher in Elko, Nevada. All of the victims consented to the sexual acts between themselves and Ms. Whitaker. Of the charges against her, two of the 16-18 year old victims were not involved at the elementary school at all. Ms. Whitaker is certified only as an elementary teacher and has never taught at the high school. Two of the victims, were student aides at the elementary school. The high school and elementary school are not housed in the same building. AA 150. The State's argument at sentencing was that the location does not matter because the two schools are in the same school district. AA 182. The statutory scheme does not say same school district.

The Offer of Proof filed by the State in support of the nolo contendere plea was legally insufficient to demonstrate that Ms. Whitaker violated NRS 201.540. AA 14-15. The nolo contendere plea canvas of the court did not require Ms. Whitaker to admit the facts contained in the offer of proof were accurate or legally adequate at any point. AA 53-54. The plea canvas read more of an *Alford* plea than a nolo contendere plea.

The defense presented a psycho-sexual evaluation for Ms. Whitaker that was filed into the Court record on the same date as the nolo contendere plea. Judge Porter did not order the Department of Parole & Probation to secure an additional psycho-sexual evaluation. At the sentencing hearing, Judge Porter stated that she believed providing a psycho-sexual evaluation from Steven Ing, M.A., M.F.T., was inadequate and that Mr. Ing suffered from a conflict because Ms. Whitaker had attended 13 one-hour sessions, 7 ninety minute sessions, and one two hour session for the interview for the evaluation process with Mr. Ing. 1AA 20. Instead of seeing the treatment efforts of Ms. Whitaker as mitigating, Judge Porter negated the process and diminished the value of the evaluation. 1AA 212.

At no time did Judge Porter provide the defense with notice that she would not accept the evaluation of Mr. Ing, nor did Judge Porter order a psycho-sexual evaluation in accordance with NRS 176A.110 and NRS 176.139. Probation was available for this offense. At no time prior to sentencing did the State of Nevada

object to the submitted psycho-sexual evaluation by Steven Ing, nor did the State request the court to order a psycho-sexual evaluation through the Department of Parole & Probation. The State brutally attacked the report of Steven Ing at their sentencing argument. AA 157, 183-186.

The Department of Parole & Probation prepared an Addendum to their report, to justify a prison recommendation rather than the probation which Ms. Whitaker qualified for under the scored recommendation which the Department normally uses. See Deviation Justification by Lt. Harp attached to PSI report and the sentence recommendation selection scale thereto. This report was dated September 17, 2018, with the sentencing date of October 4, 2018, quickly approaching. The plea entered April 30, 2018, almost five months earlier. It was at this point that the defense was alerted that the Department was seeking prison time, even though Ms. Whitaker qualified for probation under both their charts and her psycho-sexual evaluation. AA 189.

The State entered into a plea agreement with Ms. Whitaker. In that argument, the State agreed to cap its argument for a sentence that did not exceed an aggregate sentence of 4-12 years. The State's argument at the sentencing hearing violated the spirit of this plea agreement. The State admitted that Ms. Whitaker qualified for probation under the normal sentence recommendation scales but

argued for the deviation which recommended the same amount of time as the plea bargain cap of the State. AA 189.

As this Court can see, this is a case that should remain at the Nevada Supreme Court. There are many errors which are worthy of the High Court's review.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Even though this conviction arose as the result of a guilty plea, there are serious issues which need to be addressed. A key question is the application of NRS 201.540 by way of defining the school as a school district. There are statutory schemes in America which use the term school district, but the Nevada Legislature chose not to do that. The application of NRS 201.540 is inappropriate as Ms. Whitaker was not a teacher at the school at which the 16-17 year old males attended. The schools are not on the same property. Ms. Whitaker was an elementary school teacher. The district court failed to order a psycho-sexual evaluation to be prepared but then limited the benefit of the psycho-sexual evaluation prepared by defense counsel's expert. The district court failed to provide due process under law that it had any type of issue with the proposed psycho-sexual evaluation. The State failed to object until it attacked the evaluation during sentencing. The Department of Parole & Probation had almost five months to write this report, the psycho-sexual evaluation by the defense had been filed on

the date of the plea, but then deviated from its own scored recommendation selection scale when it chose to recommend prison rather than probation. The district court received from the Department, a document which was completely illegal, a petition from members of the community seeking harsh treatment of the defendant. The district court did not present that document to defense counsel and the surprise was on the defense when they discovered its existence on the date of sentencing. The actions of the community members to poison the sentencing judge and the actions of the spectators in court on sentencing violated the due process rights of Ms. Whitaker to a fair and impartial proceeding.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. NRS 201.540 is unconstitutionally vague.
- 2. NRS 201.540 is unconstitutionally overbroad.
- 3. NRS 201.540 violates the Equal Protection Clause.
- 4. NRS 201.540 is unconstitutional because it does not require a *mens rea* and is applied as a strict liability offense. NRS 201.540 violates the constitutional right to privacy.
  - 5. The District Court abused its discretion when it refused to voluntarily recuse itself when it was subjected to inadmissible and suspect sentencing documents which were intended to prejudice the Defendant.
  - 6. The District Court violated Nevada law when it failed to order a psychosexual evaluation to be prepared as part of the presentence report process. After violating law, the District Court abused its discretion and violated the due process rights of Appellant when it acknowledged that it would not recognize the findings of the psycho-sexual evaluation report completed by the defense to justify probation.

- 7. Improper victim impact evidence was provided to the sentencing court, in violation of NRS 176.015. Appellant's rights to due process were violated by providing the sentencing court documentary evidence not provided timely to defense counsel. Appellant's rights were violated by the admission of suspect evidence into this sentencing proceeding.
- 8. The nolo contendere plea was not supported by a factual recitation that substantiated criminal charges against Appellant regarding two of the four victims herein.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Tennille Rae Whitaker ("Ms. Whitaker") was charged by way of a criminal information with four counts of Sexual Conduct Between School Employee or Volunteer and a Pupil, a Category C Felony as defined in NRS 201.540. AA 1-5. The charges alleged consensual sexual relations with four pupils, all over the age of consent, 16. AA 1-5.

Ms. Whitaker entered into a plea bargain with the State wherein she would enter a nolo contendere plea to four counts of violation of NRS 201.540, the State would cap any sentence recommendation at 4-12 years in prison but otherwise the Parties remained free to argue. Prior to the plea, the State filed with the Court a document entitled, "Offer of Proof with Respect to the Defendant Tennille Rae Whitaker's Proposed Plea of Nolo Contendere". This document was not signed by the Defendant or her counsel. AA 14-15. The document does not state facts sufficient to demonstrate guilt on all counts alleged.

On April 30, 2018, Ms. Whitaker entered a nolo contendere plea to the four

counts in the criminal information. The District Court did not ask Ms. Whitaker or whether she admitted the facts as alleged in the Offer of Proof of the State. The District Court asked defense counsel, Byron Bergeron, to admit the facts but his response was that he found that improper but agreed that both he and his client wanted the plea to go forward. The plea was accepted by the court.

On the same date, defense counsel Bergeron filed into court a Psycho-Sexual Evaluation which was authored by Steven Ing., M.A., M.F.T. AA 19-39. The evaluation contained the Curriculum Vitae of Steven Ing as attached. AA 34-39. The recommendation of Steven Ing found that Ms. Whitaker was a low risk to reoffend even stating "Ms. Whitaker's risk to the community is as low as she could possibly score using the actuarial tables described below. AA 29, 31. The District Court did not object to the evaluation, nor did it order an evaluation under NRS 176.139 or NRS 176A.110. The State did not object to the evaluation of Steven Ing.

The case proceeded to sentencing on October 4, 2018, almost five months later. The Department of Parole & Probation authored a presentence report in which it objected to its own sentence recommendation selection scale and sought a deviation from the probation which Ms. Whitaker charted out to and instead sought four consecutive prison terms of 12-36 months. See PSI and supporting documents.

Ms. Whitaker was sentenced to four consecutive prison terms of 24-60 months in prison. AA 220-221. The judgment of conviction entered on October 5, 2018. AA 219-224.A timely notice of appeal was filed on October 17, 2018. AA 225.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The criminal information on the four counts alleged against Ms. Whitaker includes a time period on or between September 1, 2015 and June, 2017. Each of the counts in the criminal information alleged that Ms. Whitaker did as follows:

Being over the age of 21, while employed at or volunteering at a public or private school, did engage in sexual conduct with a pupil, who was 16 years of age or older and had not received a high school diploma, a general educational development certificate or any equivalent document and: the student was attending the public or private school at which the Defendant was employed or volunteered; or the student had contact with the Defendant in the course of the Defendant performing his or her duties as an employee or volunteer. AA 1-3.

Notably, the criminal information did not allege the ages of the pupils in question. AA 1-2. The criminal information did not allege the school at which Ms. Whitaker taught or the school which the pupils attended. The memorandum of plea did not allege any basis in fact for the entry of a plea. AA6-10. The offer of proof of the State (in support of the nolo contendere plea) did not allege the age of the pupils, the location of the offense(s) or the location Ms. Whitaker taught or the location of the school the pupils attended.

At the entry of plea, the State alleged the charge against Ms. Whitaker. This

recitation did not contain any factual background for admission. AA 44-45. The District Court asked Ms. Whitaker if she had read the offer of proof. The District Court asked Mr. Bergeron to admit the State could prove the charges beyond a reasonable doubt. He did not admit that. Mr. Bergeron stated words to the effect that he wanted the negotiated plea to go forward. AA 54.

The preliminary hearing in this case was waived. The facts as to the allegations against Ms. Whitaker are being cited from the sentencing transcript and the presentence report.

Indeed, Ms. Whitaker was an elementary school teacher at the Wells Elementary School Ms. Whitaker was not a high school teacher, nor did she teach at the high school in Wells, Nevada. AA 150. The four male pupils were pupils of the Wells High School. AA 150. The investigation began on September 30, 2016. The victims were O. C. age 17; B. H. teacher's aide but potentially not while sexual relationship was ongoing, age >16; L.T. age >16; and C.M. age >16 -- teacher's aide. PSI pages 6-11. Ms. Whitaker had a romantic relationship with each of the four males alleged.

On the same date as the entry of plea, (04/30/18) Ms. Whitaker filed with the Court a psycho-sexual evaluation completed by Steven Ing, M.A., M.F.T., which deemed Ms. Whitaker to be a low risk to re-offend. The evaluation demonstrated that by the date of the plea, Ms. Whitaker had attended 25.5 hours of

treatment and assessment with Steven Ing. Ms. Whitaker between July 5, 2017 and April 30, 2018, attended 13 one hour sessions, 7 ninety minute sessions and one 2 hour session for the evaluation process. The treatment sessions were in Reno and Ms. Whitaker resides in Death, Nevada.

Mr. Ing's conclusions were that Ms. Whitaker had no criminal history at all; had been married for 19 years; was a licensed elementary school teacher; worked for the Elko School District for 11 years; had been the victim of child sexual abuse; suffered from signs of depression; suffers from AD/HD; does not suffer from any substance abuse issues; and would benefit from treatment. AA 21-28.

The evaluation stated: "Ms. Whitaker's risk to the community is as low as she could possibly score using the actuarial tables described below." AA 29.

Attached to the Psycho-Sexual Evaluation was the Curriculum Vitae of Steven Ing. At no time prior to the sentencing hearing, about five months later, did the District Court object to the credentials of Steven Ing to prepare the evaluation. At no time did the District Court order a psycho-sexual evaluation to be prepared by the Department of Parole & Probation. At no time prior to sentencing did the State object to the credentials of Steven Ing to prepare the evaluation. At no time did the State request that the District Court order a psycho-sexual evaluation to be prepared by the Department of Parole & Probation.

On the same date as the plea, the Defendant filed letters from friends and

family members of Ms. Whitaker in support of sentencing mitigation. AA 60-76.

The letters explained to the District Court that Ms. Whitaker was remorseful, regretted her actions, was a good mother, was helpful to her friends and neighbors.

A document dated May 7, 2018, was prepared by the Department of Parole & Probation. That document included a "Petition" signed by members of the community which was circulated and prepared by one of the victim's family members. That Petition was not served on Ms. Whitaker or her attorney until the morning of sentencing on October 4, 2018. The "Petition" is dated May 7, 2 018. Mr. Bergeron discussed the "Petition" during his sentencing argument. The "Petition" included suspect evidence and was an all out attack on both Ms. Whitaker and her husband. AA 78-84. The "Petition" was forwarded by the DA's Office to the Court. AA 154.

Yet another alleged victim impact letter was filed with the court from Tammy Myers. Ms. Myers began her letter by stating that she had young boys the same as the victims in the case but that her boys were not victims of a sexual crime at the hands of Ms. Whitaker. AA 100.

Another improperly delivered victim impact letter was provided to the Court by Thad Ballard, President of the Board of Trustees, Elko County School District.

Mr. Ballard used his position of power in his letter to ask the court to impose the maximum time in prison. According to MR. Ballard, "It is not possible for the

Court to impose a sentence that is too harsh". AA 108. Mr. Ballard described the school district as a victim. Yet, this same school district did not suspend Ms Whitaker and place her on leave when the first allegation arose, nor did it conduct a timely investigation. Mr. Ballard believed the reputation of the entire community had been maligned by Ms. Whitaker. AA 108. Mr. Ballard stated that every student in the school and every parent in the school was a victim. AA 107.

The Department of Parole & Probation authored its presentence report on September 17, 2018. Ms. Whitaker should have received a recommendation of probation. At page 3, the Department acknowledged receipt of the Evaluation by Steven Ing and cited to it, demonstrating that Ms. Whitaker qualified for probation as she was not deemed a high risk to re-offend (low actually). PSI Page 3-4.

The Department of Parole & Probation prepared an Addendum to their report, to justify a prison recommendation rather than the probation which Ms. Whitaker qualified for under the scored recommendation which the Department normally uses. See Deviation Justification by Lt. Harp attached to PSI report and the sentence recommendation selection scale thereto. The recommendation of the Department was the same at the State's cap of sentencing, in at 12-36 months in prison each count to be served consecutively for a total of 4-12 years in prison. AA 156-157.

The sentencing hearing in this case was heated. The courtroom emotional

level was high. At the onset, Judge Porter noted that there was quite a few people here, a lot more than normal and she warned the audience that the Bailiff will remove anyone not behaving. AA 137. Later in the proceeding, Judge Porter noted that: "You can see all these interested people here. We have a lot of people who are interested in this proceeding." AA 154.

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