1  
2 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

3 Electronically Filed  
4 Mar 29 2019 09:30 a.m.  
5 Elizabeth A. Brown  
6 Clerk of Supreme Court

7  
8 TENNILLE RAE WHITAKER,

9 Appellant,

10 vs.

11 CASE NO.77294

12 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

13 Respondent.

14  
15 Appeal From The Fourth Judicial District Court  
16 Of The State of Nevada  
17 In And For The County Of Elko

18 **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

19 THE HONORABLE ADAM PAUL LAXALT  
20 ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEVADA  
100 N. CARSON STREET  
CARSON CITY, NV 89701

TYLER J. INGRAM  
Elko County District  
Attorney's Office  
CHAD B. THOMPSON  
State Bar Number 10248  
540 Court Street, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor  
Elko, NV 89801

ROUTING STATEMENT

Whitaker claims that under NRAP 17(a)(12) that this case is of statewide public concern. In support of such a claim Whitaker states the following reasons: (1) NRS 201.540 is unconstitutionally vague; (2) Whitaker claims that a statement amounting to a “petition,” was received late by Whitaker. This is simply not true. The “petition” as Whitaker deems it, was with the PSI and submitted by the Division at the same time as the presentence investigation report, and is referenced in the PSI as being attached and is part of the report. AA p. 77-88. The so-called “late filing” that Whitaker referred to at sentencing was an October 1<sup>st</sup> filing by the State of a victim impact letter submitted by the sister of one of the victims to the District Attorney’s office who in turn and on the same day that it was received filed the statement with the District Court and sent it to defense counsel. AA p. 109, 111 154-155; (3) Whitaker next claims that the sentencing hearing was “contentious.” The State does not believe this to be an accurate statement either. Courtroom admonishments on paper do not mean anything and there are no outbursts or anything of the kind in the transcript; (4) Whitaker claims that other states have grappled with this issue of constitutionality; (5) the term pupil is not defined in the statute; (6) the no contest offer of proof filing was insufficient in some fashion; (7) the psycho-

1 sexual evaluation and the weight given to it by the District Court at  
2 sentencing; (8) the PSI deviation and recommendation of sentence; and  
3 finally (9) that the State somehow violated the 'spirit' of the plea agreement  
4 by recommending exactly what it said it would do in the plea agreement.

5 In deciding to route this case to the Supreme Court there is only one  
6 issue that should be considered and that is the viability of the claim by  
7 Whitaker that NRS 201.540 is unconstitutional. The rest of the arguments  
8 bear no weight on an issue of 'statewide concern' as they were all issues of  
9 discretion for the District Court to decide. The State's position is that the  
10 argument against the statute's constitutionality is extremely weak as the  
11 State has a rational basis in passing a law protecting the students of the  
12 schools of the State, and part of that is not allowing sexual relations with the  
13 teachers/employees thereof. Therefore, the Court of Appeals should retain  
14 jurisdiction, but in reality the State is not opposed to either Court reviewing  
15 the matter.

1                                    STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

2            While Whitaker lists them 1-8, the State prefers to break them down  
3 as follows:

4            1) a) Whether NRS 201.540 is unconstitutionally vague?

5                            b) Whether NRS 201.540 is unconstitutionally overbroad?

6                            c) Whether NRS 201.540 violates the equal protection clause of  
7 the 14<sup>th</sup> amendment and is therefore unconstitutional?

8                            d) Whether NRS 201.540 violates the constitutional right to  
9 privacy and is therefore unconstitutional?

10           2) Did the District Court abuse its discretion and commit plain error  
11 affecting the substantial rights of Whitaker, namely her due  
12 process rights, by not, sua sponte, raising the issue of voluntary  
13 recusal upon its review of all the documents filed or provided to  
14 the District Court in preparation for the sentencing hearing? Did  
15 Whitaker preserve for appeal this issue?

16           3) Was the District Court required to order the preparation of a  
17 psychosexual evaluation from an independent evaluator in lieu of  
18 the report submitted by Whitakers' evaluator? Did Whitaker  
19 preserve for appeal this issue?  
20

1 4) Did the District Court consider and rely upon highly suspect or  
2 impalpable evidence at the Sentencing Hearing in rendering the  
3 sentence that it did and thereby commit plain error affecting the  
4 substantial rights of Whitaker, namely her due process rights? Did  
5 Whitaker preserve for appeal this issue?

6 5) Did Whitaker enter her plea of 'no contest' freely, voluntarily and  
7 with full understanding of her Constitutional Rights, the nature of  
8 the charges and the consequences of the plea at the arraignment?  
9 Did Whitaker preserve for appeal this issue?



## 1

2

9

1 further charges other than the 4 counts and that at the time of sentencing  
2 both sides would be free to argue, “except that the State will be limited to  
3 arguing for a sentence that does not exceed an aggregate sentence of 4-12  
4 years.” AA p. 6-7.

5 Whitaker filed a psycho-sexual evaluation on April 30, 2018. AA p.  
6 19. In a separate filing, she also submitted letters in support. AA p. 60.  
7 Along with those documents the State and the department of parole and  
8 probation submitted letters by persons for consideration at sentencing and in  
9 one instance a person submitted a letter straight to the District Court, the  
10 letters are included from p. 77-112 of Appellant’s Appendix.

11 The Sentencing Hearing was held on October 4, 2018, at which it was  
12 disclosed to the public that the Division of Parole and Probation had  
13 recommended a sentence of 12 to 36 months on each count, with all of the  
14 counts to run consecutively to one another and that Ms. Whitaker not be  
15 granted probation, thus making the aggregate sentence 4-12 years in prison.  
16 AA p. 138. The State concurred with the Division in its argument. AA p.  
17 55. Following the arguments Whitaker called 3 witnesses. AA p. 191-201.  
18 The State called two witnesses, both were mothers of victims. AA p. 202-  
19 211. Following the testimony, the District Court pronounced the sentence.

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
0  
1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
0

Facts pertinent to issues 5 and 7 are that at the sentencing hearing the District Court specifically went through the filings to be considered at sentencing. AA p. 152-156. During which the District Court specifically stated:

Whitaker's counsel made no objection to the District Court's statement, presumably satisfied that the District Court would follow the law. Later the

1 District Court emphasized in regards to the alleged “petition” that the vast  
2 majority of the people who signed it were not victims and that it was not  
3 influencing the District Court’s decision. AA p. 174-175.

4 Defense Counsel did express a lack of appreciation to the District  
5 Court for the October 1, 2018 filing by the State of a victim impact  
6 statement. AA p. 109, 154-155. It is written by the oldest sister of the  
7 victim O.C. from Count 2 on behalf of the family. AA p. 111. The District  
8 Court allowed Mr. Bergeron to make his complaint known and allowed the  
9 State to respond and found no ‘evil intent’ on the part of the State  
10 considering the fact that Mr. Bergeron had traveled to Elko unbeknownst to  
11 the State or the District Court earlier than the day of sentencing and the State  
12 received the statement from the family on the same day that they then filed  
13 the statement with the District Court. AA p. 155-156.

14 Whitaker’s statement that the objectionable “petition” was filed late is  
15 false. Appellant’s Brief p.13. The “petition” was attached to a victim  
16 impact letter submitted by one of the mothers of a victim and was included  
17 with the PSI when it was provided to Whitaker and counsel. AA p. 77-88.  
18 The PSI references the “petition” on page 11 of the report, that it is attached  
19 with the report.

1 Other than that, Mr. Bergeron did not object to any statements offered,  
2 or request a recusal of the District Court judge, or request a continuance of  
3 the sentencing hearing.

4 The facts pertinent to issue 6 are as follows. At the arraignment the  
5 Defendant was asked by the District Court the following questions:

6 THE COURT: Do you understand that you will have to  
undergo a psychosexual evaluation?

7 THE DEFT: Yes, Your Honor.

8 THE COURT: Do you understand that to be eligible for  
9 probation that evaluator will have to find that you are not at a  
high risk to re-offend?

10 THE DEFT: Yes.

11 AA p. 47. In regards to the ordering of the psychosexual report, at the  
12 arraignment the District Court ordered that a pre-sentence investigation be  
13 conducted and a report submitted to the court. AA p. 55. The presentence  
14 report was dated September 17, 2018. AA p. 138-139. NRS 176.139  
15 requires that the Division, "shall arrange for a psychosexual evaluation of  
16 the defendant as part of the Division's presentence investigation and report  
17 to the court." NRS 176.139(1). Furthermore, a court must order the  
18 defendant to pay for the evaluation so long as they are able to do so. NRS  
19 176.139(7). It is not incumbent upon the court to order a psychosexual  
20 evaluation pursuant to the statute. As noted above the Defendant submitted

1 the psychosexual evaluation in a filing with the District Court on April 30,  
2 2018. AA p. 19. The Evaluation appears to meet the requirements of NRS  
3 176.139. In regards to the psychosexual evaluation the District Court only  
4 stated the following:

5 “Mr. Ing was treating Ms. Whitaker for several  
6 months before he performed the psychosexual evaluation.  
7 I have never seen a psychosexual evaluation from a  
8 treating practitioner, so I looked at the statute to see if  
9 that’s permissible. It’s not excluded. But because of  
10 that, I do question his objectivity.” AA p. 212.

11 The District Court did not say that it would not recognize the findings of Mr.  
12 Ing.

13 The facts pertinent to issue 8 are as follows: the State filed the Offer  
14 of Proof regarding the No Contest plea on April 27, 2018. AA p. 14. It  
15 addresses each of the elements of NRS 201.540. The District Court did  
16 canvas both Whitaker and Mr. Bergeron about the filed Offer of Proof. AA  
17 p. 129-130. Neither objected to the State’s filed document or the District  
18 Court’s finding of a factual basis. Furthermore, the District Court made a  
19 specific finding that Whitaker entered her plea “...freely and voluntarily,  
20 with full understanding of her Constitutional Rights, the nature of the  
charges, and the consequences of the plea.” AA p. 130-131. Also of note,  
earlier in the arraignment the State had described the elements and

1 punishments to the charges. AA p. 120-121. The Criminal Information was  
2 handed to Whitaker which outlines the elements of each of the charges. AA  
3 p. 1, 118-119. Whitaker also signed the plea agreement and within it are the  
4 punishments for each of the charges. AA p. 6-7, 123-124. Whitaker made  
5 no objections to the handling of the entry of plea hearing either at that  
6 hearing or during the sentencing hearing.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether NRS 201.540 is constitutional is subject to de novo review, with the presumption that the statute is constitutional. Byars v. State, 336 P.3d 939, 945 (Nev. 2014). The State would note that Whitaker never raised this issue in any lower court proceeding other than making a backhanded stab during sentencing argument. AA p. 162.

Whitaker did not object and preserve the issue of the District Court's recusal which typically precludes review, however this Court may address plain errors affecting the defendants' substantial rights and constitutional errors sua sponte. Sterling v. State, 108 Nev. 391, 394 (1992) (citing Emmons v. State, 107 Nev. 53, 61 (1991); Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 63 (2001) (citing Cordova v. State, 116 Nev. 664, 666 (2000); NRS 178.602. Affecting the substantial rights means that the error must have been prejudicial and the Defendant bears the burden of proving it as such. Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 365 (2001) (citing United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 734-735 (1993)).

Whitaker furthermore failed to object at the arraignment hearing regarding the no contest offer of proof prepared by the State, and Whitaker did not object to the psychosexual evaluation and the ordering thereof by the District Court at the arraignment hearing or the sentencing hearing.



1 Whitaker therefore failed to preserve those issues as well. At sentencing,  
2 while the issue was brought up by the District Court in regards to non-victim  
3 statements, Whitaker did not object to the District Court proceeding, ask for  
4 a continuance or anything of the like and therefore again, in regards to the  
5 “suspect” sentencing evidence that issue was also not preserved for appeal  
6 and Whitaker is hopeful that this Court will consider them as plain error or  
7 constitutional error.

1 ARGUMENT

2 **1) The Constitutionality of NRS 201.540**

3 The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that is reviewed  
4 de novo. Sheriff v. Burd, 118 Nev. 853, 857 (2002).

5 "The leading rule in regard to the judicial construction of  
6 constitutional provisions is a wise and sound one, which declares that in  
7 cases of doubt every possible presumption and intendment will be made in  
8 favor of the constitutionality of the act in question, and that the courts will  
9 only interfere in cases of clear and unquestioned violation of the  
10 fundamental law. It has been repeatedly said that the presumption is that  
11 every state statute, the object and provisions of which are among the  
12 acknowledged powers of legislation, is valid and constitutional, and such  
13 presumption is not to be overcome unless the contrary is clearly  
14 demonstrated." State ex rel. Clarke v. Irwin, 5 Nev. 111, 120 (1869). This  
15 presumption applies to statutes as well as city and county ordinances. Carson  
16 City v. Red Arrow Garage, 47 Nev. 473 (1924); Ormsby County v. Kearney,  
17 37 Nev. 314 (1914).

18 **a) Vagueness**

19 Whether a statute or ordinance is unconstitutionally vague is  
20 determined by applying a two part analysis wherein the courts decide

1 whether 1) the law in question provides sufficient notice to the public and 2)  
2 that the law provides sufficient clarity so that enforcement of the law will  
3 not be arbitrary or discriminatory. Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S.  
4 104, 108-109 (1972); Silver v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of  
5 Clark, 122 Nev. 289, 293 (2006). However, "...the Constitution does not  
6 require impossible standards." United States v. Petrillo, 332 U.S. 1, 7  
7 (1947).

8 In this particular case Whitaker challenges the use of the words  
9 'pupil,' 'volunteer' and the phrase 'position of authority' in the statute NRS  
10 201.540.

11 NRS 201.540 Sexual conduct between certain employees of  
12 school or volunteers at school and pupil:

13 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, a person who:

14 (a) Is 21 years of age or older;

15 (b) Is or was employed by a public school or private school  
16 in a position of authority or is or was volunteering at a public or  
17 private school in a position of authority; and

18 (c) Engages in sexual conduct with a pupil who is 16 years  
19 of age or older, who has not received a high school diploma, a  
20 general educational development certificate or an equivalent  
document and:

(1) Who is or was enrolled in or attending the public  
school or private school at which the person is or was employed  
or volunteering; or

1           (2) With whom the person has had contact in the course  
2 of performing his or her duties as an employee or volunteer,  
3 is guilty of a category C felony and shall be punished as provided  
4 in NRS 193.130.

5           2. The provisions of this section do not apply to a person who  
6 is married to the pupil at the time an act prohibited by this  
7 section is committed.

8           3. The provisions of this section must not be construed to apply  
9 to sexual conduct between two pupils.

10           (Added to NRS by 1997, 2522; A 2001, 703; 2013, 2098; 2015,  
11 1445, 2242; 2017, 2320)

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